### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TELLUS OPERATING GROUP, LLC, BAXTERVILLE OIL ACQUISITIONS, LLC, MISSISSIPPI OIL ACQUISITIONS, LLC, NOMS, LLC, SNPI, LLC, BAX, LLC, VICKERY PROPERTIES, LLC, AND SUTHERLAND ENERGY CORP.

APPELLANTS

V.

2009-TS-01040

TEXAS PETROLEUM INVESTMENT CO., ET AL.

**APPELLEES** 

Consolidated with: 2009-TS-01174

TEXAS PETROLEUM INVESTMENT CO.

V.

TELLUS OPERATING GROUP, LLC

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAMAR COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS TELLUS OPERATING GROUP LLC BAXTERVILLE OIL ACQUISITIONS, LLC, MISSISSIPPI OIL ACQUISITIONS, LLC, NOMS, LLC, SNPI, LLC, BAX, LLC, VICKERY PROPERTIES, LLC, AND SUTHERLAND ENERGY CORP.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the trial court erred by misstating the burden of proof under the law of commingled goods and refusing to instruct the jury that Texas Petroleum must prove its share of the natural gas that it wrongfully commingled.
- II. Whether the trial court erred by refusing the general verdict form requested by Tellus and by submitting instead complex and misleading special interrogatories, which bore no relation to the material facts or legal issues presented to the jury.
- III. Whether the trial court erred by allowing unlicensed engineers to give expert technical testimony in violation of Mississippi criminal law.
- IV. Whether the trial court erred by permitting Texas Petroleum's expert engineering witness to surprise Tellus at trial with a previously undisclosed opinion that the Bilbo A-1 Well could produce gas from the deep zones even though the wellbore was plugged.
- V. Whether the trial court erred by excluding evidence that Texas Petroleum's most critical fact witness was biased against Tellus and biased in favor of Texas Petroleum.
  - VI. Whether the trial court erred by excluding Tellus's evidence of lost profits.

#### INTRODUCTION

This complex case involves the appropriation of natural gas from a well in Lamar County, Mississippi. The well is situated on a tract of land known as the Bilbo A Lease. Two companies own mineral rights under the lease. Since 1995, Plaintiffs/Appellants Tellus Operating Group and related entities have owned the "shallow gas" rights from the earth's surface to a depth of 8,000 feet; Defendant/Appellee Texas Petroleum Investment Company has owned the "deep zone" oil rights and associated gas below 8,000 feet.

At trial, Tellus offered substantial evidence that, from April 1995 to July 2004, Texas Petroleum secretly produced and depleted Tellus's shallow gas under the Bilbo A Lease. Texas

Petroleum falsely reported this production from its Bilbo A-1 Well as deep zone gas, falsely allocated some of the production to another well on the Bilbo A Lease property, and wrongfully commingled the rest with gas from Texas Petroleum's other wells in the field without metering or reporting it.

Numerous legal errors prevented the jury from fairly considering the evidence. Chief among these errors, the trial court improperly placed on Tellus the burden to prove the amount of shallow gas that Texas Petroleum had commingled. Under settled law, if Texas Petroleum is shown to have wrongfully commingled fungible goods, such as gas from the Bilbo A Lease, Texas Petroleum must prove its share of the commingled goods. The trial court refused to shift this burden to Texas Petroleum. This error was compounded by a misleading verdict form that prevented the jury from returning a verdict for Tellus unless the jury allocated Tellus's damages by year, a burden that the trial court first imposed on Tellus after all the proof was in. Still other evidentiary errors defeated a fair trial, including the admission of expert technical testimony by unlicensed engineers in violation of Mississippi criminal law, the admission of previously undisclosed expert testimony regarding the A-1 Well's production capabilities, and the exclusion of material evidence that Texas Petroleum's key fact witness was biased against Tellus and in favor of Texas Petroleum.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### I. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Trial Court

In August 2004, Tellus Operating Group, LLC and related entities (collectively "Tellus"), sued Texas Petroleum Investment Company ("Texas Petroleum") in the Circuit Court of Lamar County. R. 28-87 (Trial Court No. 2004-307). Tellus asserted that, from 1995 to 2004,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Tellus Operating Group, LLC is the operating company for the oil and gas interests owned by the other named plaintiffs. Tr. 3386-87.

Texas Petroleum had unlawfully produced and commingled natural gas from the shallow zones of the Mrs. George W. Bilbo A Lease (the "Bilbo A Lease") in Lamar County, Mississippi. *Id.*; R. 1225. Texas Petroleum removed the case to federal court. R. 95.<sup>2</sup> Tellus then sued Total Petrochemicals USA ("Total"), Texas Petroleum's predecessor under the Bilbo A Lease.<sup>3</sup> In January 2007, the Texas Petroleum suit was remanded to state court and the Total suit was dismissed for lack of jurisdiction. R. 98.<sup>4</sup>

On remand, Tellus amended its complaint to add Texas Petroleum's owners, Bruce Sallee and William H. Crawford, as defendants. R. 1225. Tellus re-filed the Total suit, R. 8 (Trial Ct. No. 2007-3), and the cases were consolidated for trial in Lamar County Circuit Court (Harrell, J.). R. 1164. Trial began October 30, 2008, Tr. 1001, and the case went to the jury on December 16, 2008 on Tellus's claims for negligence and conversion, Tr. 5718. After deliberating for four days, the jury returned a divided verdict against Tellus. Tr. 5719-20. The trial court entered judgment on the verdict, R. 12803-07, and entered a separate judgment declaring that certain Tellus plaintiffs owned the shallow gas rights and Texas Petroleum owned the deep zone oil and any associated gas under the Bilbo A Lease, R. 12795-802.

Tellus timely appealed the judgments in both cases. R. 13199-206 (Trial Ct. No. 2004-307); R. 494 (Trial Ct. No. 2007-3). Total cross-appealed. R. 511 (Trial Ct. No. 2007-3). Texas Petroleum appealed the declaratory judgment. R. 13209 (Trial Ct. No. 2004-307). Total has now settled its dispute with Tellus and the Total appeals have been dismissed. This Court consolidated the Texas Petroleum appeals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Tellus Operating et al. v. Texas Petroleum Inv. Co. et al., Civil Action No. 2:04-cv-327 (S.D. Miss.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Tellus Operating et al. v. Total Petrochemicals USA, Inc., Civil Action No. 2:05-cv-2176 (S.D. Miss.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Citations to the record are identified as "R. \_\_." Citations to the trial transcript are identified as "Tr. \_\_." Citations to trial exhibits are identified as "Ex. \_\_." Record excerpts are identified as "R.E. ."

#### II. Statement of Facts

Tellus is an independent Mississippi oil and gas operating company that obtained its first oil and gas interest in Baxterville Field in 1995. Tr. 3382-88. Texas Petroleum is a privately held Texas company that began operating in Baxterville Field in 1995. Ex. 92. Baxterville Field, in Lamar and Marion Counties, is a prolific oil and gas field. Tr. 1905 & Ex. 246. This case concerns a 319-acre portion of Baxterville Field, the East Half of Section 7, Township One North, Range 16 West in Lamar County (the "East Half of Section 7"). R. 1225. The 40-acre Bilbo A Lease lies in this half section. Ex. 76. Over time, three deep oil wells were drilled on the Bilbo A Lease. Tr. 1531. The A-1 Well was the first, drilled in 1946. Tr. 2177.

### A. Tellus acquires the shallow gas rights in the East Half of Section 7 but later finds that the shallow gas reserves are depleted.

In 1949, the leaseholders in the East Half of Section 7 – the Texas Company ("Texaco"), Gulf Refining Company ("Gulf Oil") and Sun Oil Company ("Sun Oil") – entered into a joint operating agreement governing shallow gas production in the half section (the "1949 JOA"). Ex. 76. The 1949 JOA, as amended, pooled the leaseholders' gas rights into a unitized production zone for the gas horizons extending from the surface of the earth to a depth of approximately 8,000 feet. Tr. 3440-42; Exs. 76-80 (R.E. 289-332). These gas horizons are generally referred to as Tellus's "shallow zones" or "shallow sands." Tr. 2394-95. Below 8,000 feet is the Lower Tuscaloosa Oil Pool ("LTOP") and Lower Tuscaloosa Massive Oil Pool ("LTOP Massive"), which is generally referred to as the "deep zones" or "deep sands." *Id.* The 1949 JOA did not affect rights to extract oil or associated gas from the deep zones. Exs. 76-80.

There was evidence that most of the shallow sands beneath the Bilbo A Lease were saturated with gas when the A-1 Well was drilled in 1946. Tr. 2239. A 1990 report prepared for CWF Associates Ltd., one of Tellus's predecessors to the shallow gas rights, concluded that much of these gas reserves then remained. Ex. 246 (R.E. 424-40). A 1996 analysis of the

neighboring A-9 well showed that, despite some depletion, some of Tellus's shallow sands under the Bilbo A Lease were still gas-rich. Tr. 2241-45.

In March 1995, Tellus purchased Sun Oil and Texaco's gas rights in the shallow zones, which included the rights to shallow gas under the Bilbo A Lease. Ex. 72. However, under the 1949 JOA, Gulf Oil's successors controlled drilling and operations in the East Half of Section 7. Ex. 76. Thus, Tellus could not drill gas wells on the Bilbo A Lease at that time. Tr. 3388-91.

In January 2003, Tellus purchased Gulf Oil's rights in the East Half of Section 7. Tr. 3390-91 & Ex 35. After these acquisitions, Tellus owned all shallow gas rights in the half section and held the right to drill new wells. *Id.*; Tr. 3398-99. Tellus drilled its first shallow well on the Bilbo A Lease (the 7-15 well) approximately 300 feet from Texas Petroleum's A-1 Well. Tr. 2880, 3399-400. Completion of the 7-15 well in August 2006 revealed that all of the shallow gas reservoirs beneath the Bilbo A Lease had been depleted even though there were no other shallow wells in the area. Tr. 3040, 3399-402, 3520. Depletion of the shallow zones cost Tellus as much as \$16,000,000 or more in lost profits. Tr. 4182-87 & Ex. 405-D. The cause of and legal responsibility for this depletion are central issues in this litigation.

# B. Texas Petroleum acquires the right to produce deep zone oil and associated gas under the Bilbo A Lease and begins producing the A-1 Well.

In 1995, eleven years before Tellus drilled the Bilbo 7-15 well, Texas Petroleum acquired an interest in Baxterville Field, including the right to produce deep zone oil and any associated gas under the Bilbo A Lease and operating rights for the three deep oil wells on the lease. Ex. 92. At the time of Texas Petroleum's acquisition, two of the Bilbo A Lease wells, the A-9 and A-13, had been completed in the deep zones and were pumping oil from those zones. Tr. 1199;

Exs. 1 & 22.<sup>5</sup> The third well, the A-1 Well, had also been completed in the same deep zones as the A-13 well. *Id.* However, official reports declared that the A-1 Well was "shut in," meaning it should not have been producing any oil or gas. Tr. 1200; Ex. 1.

Although the A-1 Well was reportedly "shut in," substantial evidence at trial showed that Texas Petroleum had opened the well and produced gas from it as early as 1995 and continued producing the well until it was depleted in 2004. Immediately after Texas Petroleum acquired its interest in 1995, its co-owner, William Crawford, instructed his production foreman to open all the wells in Baxterville and determine if they could be produced. Tr. 3633-35. Texas Petroleum's goal was to bring existing wells back into production, particularly if a well would produce oil or gas without costly repairs. Tr. 1168. One of those wells was the A-1 Well. *Id*.

The A-1 Well had a history of "casing leaks," unintended breaches in the well's outer casing through which gas, oil, and other material can enter the wellbore and be produced by the well. Tr. 1968-71, 2033-35, 3149. Exhibit 440 is a depiction of the A-1 Well. R.E. 467.<sup>6</sup> If a casing leak is not repaired, the leak can deplete nearby zones of oil and natural gas. Ex. 225 (R.E. 385-86).<sup>7</sup> Depending on the depth of the casing leak, oil or gas depletion may occur at zones shallower than the zones from which the well was intended to produce hydrocarbons. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Trial Exhibit 1 is a compilation of "Producer's Monthly Reports" filed by Texas Petroleum with the Mississippi State Oil and Gas Board. Tr. 1199-1200. The reports span the relevant period of Texas Petroleum's ownership in the Bilbo A Lease, from May 1995 to December 2004. *Id.* The May 1995 report, which is the first report filed by Texas Petroleum, is located at Pages T0001/0145-51 of Exhibit 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> An oil well is completed by drilling the well, running steel "casing" down the wellbore, and then cementing the casing in place. Tr. 2216-17. "Tubing" is then run inside the casing down to the zones where perforations have been intentionally made so that oil may be produced. *Id.* A "casing leak" is an unintended breach in the casing through which gas, oil, and other material may enter the casing "annulus," the space between the tubing and casing. Tr. 1941-42, 3153-54. Once it enters the annulus, the gas, oil or other material can be produced by the well as if it had risen through the tubing. Tr. 1941.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Several witnesses testified by video deposition. Exhibit 225 is a transcription of that video testimony.

In 2006, a "workover" of the then sixty-year-old A-1 Well confirmed five casing leaks, all adjacent to Tellus's shallow sands at depths of 3,000, 3,427, 6,570, 6,874, and 7,440 feet. Tr. 2033-35. Texas Petroleum's in-house engineer, Forrest Bugge, testified that this did not surprise him as the Bilbo A-1 was an "old well" that "could definitely have casing issues." Tr. 1244. Total discovered the first shallow zone casing leak in May 1991. Tr. 1219-20, 3155. The leak was documented in a report and wellbore sketch that were placed in the A-1 Well file. Tr. 1224-25, Exs. 4 (R.E. 260) & 28 (R.E. 285).

Bugge learned of the casing leak when he reviewed the A-1 Well file shortly after Texas Petroleum purchased the Bilbo A Lease in May 1995. Tr. 1166-68, 1224-25. On July 11, 1995, he wrote a memo to Texas Petroleum's owners warning them that the A-1 Well had at least one casing leak in the shallow sands. Tr. 1193-96 & Ex. 248 (R.E. 441-47). Bugge's memo also disclosed the presence of a "fish," or obstruction, in the well. *Id*.

Texas Petroleum's co-owner, Crawford, made his own notes on Bugge's memo, writing that the A-1 was "very gaseous" – meaning that it produced natural gas. Tr. 1197 & Ex. 248 (R.E. 442-43). Although Bugge's memo recited that the well was designated as "shut in," Crawford wrote that the "casing [is] open now." *Id.*; Tr. 1198. Crawford's handwritten notes revealed that the A-1 Well's casing valve<sup>10</sup> had to be left open to keep pressure from building up on the wellhead. Tr. 1198-99. One week later, on July 18, 1995, Crawford enthusiastically noted that the well "makes gas!" on his copy of the A-1 Well's daily production reports. Tr. 3681 & Ex. 367 (R.E. 447-A).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> A "workover" is a significant maintenance or repair operation, typically undertaken to re-establish or increase production from a well. Tr. 2106.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> "Fish" is a term for something that is left in the wellbore, such as drilling or production equipment. Tr. 3155. In this case, the fish consisted of a tubing anchor, pump and 200 feet of tubing covered with debris. Tr. 1195, 1220. The fish's effect on the well's deep zone production was a crucial issue at trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The "casing valve" is the valve that, when opened, releases gas from the casing annulus. Tr. 2144.

According to Brad Lowe, Texas Petroleum's full-time "pumper" for Baxterville Field, the A-1 Well's casing valve was left open with gas flowing off the casing from at least January 1996 until June 2004. Tr. 1809-11. Texas Petroleum never reported this production from the casing. Tr. 1814-15. For a three-week period in April and May 1996, Texas Petroleum connected the A-1 Well's casing to the gas sales line for the Bilbo A Lease. Tr. 1229-30. The well produced a steady flow of gas without any decline for the entire three week period, sometimes topping 400 Mcf per day. Tr. 1231-33. Texas Petroleum never reported this gas production either, even though it was required to do so under state law. Tr. 1233-35.

In July 1996, Texas Petroleum asked its geologist, Jim Norris, to analyze the source of the A-1 Well's unreported gas. Tr. 1235-36; Ex. 225 (R.E. 360). Norris initially concluded that the gas was not coming from the deep zones and informed Texas Petroleum's owners that the gas production "may have been extraneous due to mechanical problems." Tr. 1235-37 & Ex. 22 (R.E. 270). Norris believed the well was producing shallow gas for several reasons: (1) regular pressure build-ups on the A-1 Well indicated shallow zone gas production, (2) gas from the deep zones is always associated with oil production, but the A-1 Well was making significant gas without any associated oil production, (3) the neighboring Bilbo A-13 well's gas production did not match the A-1 Well's production even though both wells were drilled into the same deep zone reservoir, and (4) the presence of the "fish," or plug, at a depth of 7,600 feet would prevent oil or gas from flowing up from the deep zones. Ex. 225 (R.E. 353-55, 360-62).

Later testing by Texas Petroleum confirmed that the A-1 Well was producing shallow gas. Ex. 225 (R.E. 357-59, 363-65). Norris told Bugge of his test results; Bugge did not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> As a full-time pumper, Lowe maintained, gauged, and metered all of Texas Petroleum's wells in Baxterville Field. Tr. 1777-78. He visited each well at least once every other day. Tr. 1777-81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Mcf is a unit of measurement meaning 1,000 cubic feet of gas.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Jim Norris testified at trial by video deposition.

disagree. *Id.* (R.E. 358). In fact, no one at Texas Petroleum, including owners Sallee and Crawford, ever disagreed with Norris's findings. Tr. 3077-78, 3696-98. However, Texas Petroleum did nothing to remedy this unlawful production. Tr. 3091-92.

In May 1997, Texas Petroleum's production foreman, Richard Walters, recommended a workover of the A-1 Well to remove the fish and repair the well. Tr. 1255-56, 1909-10 & Ex. 206 (R.E. 469). Walters believed the workover was necessary to produce oil and any associated gas from the deep zones. Tr. 2138-40. Crawford rejected the proposal as "uneconomical." Tr. 3700.

In September 1997, after rejecting Walters' workover proposal, Crawford and Sallee approved his request to "swab" the A-1 Well in "an attempt to recover any gas" from the well. Tr. 1267-68, 3703-04; Ex. 4 (R.E. 251). "Swabbing" is an inexpensive method of improving or reestablishing gas production by sucking fluids out of the wellbore, which permits gas to enter and be produced. Tr. 1269-72. Texas Petroleum made no attempt to repair the casing leaks or remove the fish in the well at 7600 feet; it simply swabbed the well and continued producing gas. Tr. 1932-34.

After the swabbing, the A-1 Well began making more gas. Tr. 1934-35. At this point, Texas Petroleum began reporting some, but not all, of the production from the A-1 Well. Tr. 1272-73. However, Texas Petroleum did not separately meter gas from the A-1 Well; instead, gas from the A-1 Well was combined with gas from the A-13 well and sent through a single sales gas meter on the Bilbo A Lease. Tr. 1892. Thus, it was impossible to determine how much of the metered gas came from each well without conducting "well tests." Tr. 1789-90. Lowe, the A Lease pumper, admitted that Texas Petroleum did not give him the equipment needed to conduct such tests. Tr. 1790-93. Therefore, Lowe simply "split" the commingled production between the A-1 and A-13 wells without testing, giving about half to each well. Tr. 1795-96.

Lowe followed this arbitrary allocation method from September 1997 until sometime in 2000. Tr. 1795-96; Ex. 56. This arbitrary method of assigning sales gas short-changed the A-1 Well. Lowe conceded that he allocated gas to the A-13 well even when it could not have contributed any gas to the Bilbo A Lease meter; on these occasions, all of the sales gas should have been allocated to the A-1 Well. Tr. 1787-97. After reviewing Lowe's allocations for the months of September 1997 to April 1998, Bugge agreed that "virtually none" of this reported gas was produced by the A-13 well. Tr. 1288-91.

Gas continued to flow at high rates from the A-1 Well until April 1998, when the wellbore filled with sand, preventing gas production. Tr. 1300-01, 1941. Although this was clear proof that the well had a casing leak, Texas Petroleum made no attempt to locate and repair leaks. Tr. 1941-43. Instead, it swabbed the well in a "quick, cheap" attempt to reestablish gas production. Tr. 1302, 1942-43, 1966. When swabbing failed, Texas Petroleum undertook a workover of the A-1 Well. Tr. 1942-43, 1954.

During the workover, Texas Petroleum washed all the sand and debris out of the well down to a depth of 7550 feet, stopping fifty feet above the top of the fish. Tr. 1954-55. It then ran a "packer" in the well and located two casing leaks, one at 3,000 feet and another between 6,565 and 7,327 feet. Tr. 1968-71; Ex. 4. With the packer set above the leaking interval (6,565

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