#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TELLUS OPERATING GROUP, LLC, BAXTERVILLE OIL ACQUISITIONS, LLC, MISSISSIPPI OIL ACQUISITIONS, LLC, NOMS, LLC, SNPI, LLC, BAX, LLC, VICKERY PROPERTIES, LLC, AND SUTHERLAND ENERGY CORP.

**APPELLANTS** 

v.

NO. 2009-CA-01040

TEXAS PETROLEUM INVESTMENT CO., ET AL.

**APPELLEES** 

Consolidated with

TEXAS PETROLEUM INVESTMENT CO.

**CROSS-APPELLANT** 

v.

NO. 2009-CA-01174

TELLUS OPERATING GROUP, LLC, et al.

**CROSS-APPELLEES** 

Appeals from the Circuit Court of Lamar County, Mississippi

# BRIEF OF APPELLEE AND CROSS-APPELLANT TEXAS PETROLEUM INVESTMENT COMPANY AND APPELLEES BRUCE SALLEE AND WILLIAM CRAWFORD

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

the shallow sands under the Bilbo A-1 well. Tr. 2856-57, 2986-93.

Even if some theory of law existed under which Tellus could recover for shallow gas taken during the three years before 2004, despite all the evidence of Tellus's knowledge for many years of the facts on which it based its claim, the jury could easily have believed that no gas remained to be taken by 2001. Certainly, all of the gas was gone by the time of the workover in 2005, and, as noted above, experts testified that it was gone by the time Texas Petroleum entered the field. For all of these reasons, the evidence supports multiple theories on which the jury could have validly based its general verdict for all Defendants, and Tellus does not contend otherwise. Tellus does not begin to explain how any of the procedural errors cited in its brief could have infected that verdict. The judgment should be affirmed.

II. BECAUSE THE JURY PROPERLY FOUND NO LIABILITY, THE CIRCUIT COURT'S JURY INSTRUCTIONS AND INTERROGATORIES CONCERNING DAMAGES COULD NOT HAVE BEEN PREJUDICIAL AND, IN ANY EVENT, WERE PROPER.

In its first two issues presented, Tellus contends that the Circuit Court abused its discretion in denying Tellus's requested instruction on the burden of proof concerning commingled gas and in submitting interrogatories requiring the jury to quantify damages on an annual basis, so that the Court could award interest from the date of the alleged taking, as Tellus requested. Because the jury properly rejected all of Tellus's claims of liability, the damages instructions and interrogatories had no effect on the outcome. Moreover, Tellus cites no case in which any court in any jurisdiction has granted its all-or-nothing commingling instruction, and Tellus itself induced the Court to submit the interrogatories to accommodate Tellus's erroneous theory of damages.

A. Because the jury failed to find liability, both instructions on damages were harmless.

Both of the alleged errors in jury instructions complained of by Tellus concern instructions

on damages. With regard to Instruction No. 9, Tellus complains that the Circuit Court failed to instruct the jury that if it found that commingling occurred, the burden shifted to the plaintiff to prove its share of the commingled goods. See Brief of Appellants at 24-25 ("The trial court should have instructed the jury that, if it found that Texas Petroleum had wrongfully commingled Tellus's gas with its own, the burden shifted to Texas Petroleum to prove its share."). With regard to Instruction No. 12, Tellus complains that the Circuit Court erred by giving the jury "annualized damages interrogatories." See Brief of Appellants at 28.

As pointed out earlier, because the jury found in its general verdict that the Defendants were not liable, any alleged error in failing to instruct the jury properly on damages cannot be reversible. That point was made long ago by this Court. In *Fairfield v. Louisville & N.R. Co.*, 94 Miss. 887, 48 So. 513 (1909), the Court found that the damages instructions were erroneous but such error could not result in reversal. The Court held:

We will add that in our judgment instructions Nos. "0" and 11 ought not to have been given; but, since they would relate to the measure of damages, we would not reverse on this account, since the jury has found no liability at all existed.

48 So. at 515. See also Lewis v. Hiatt, 683 So. 2d 937, 943 (Miss. 1996) (although plaintiff presented evidence that would have justified a punitive damages instruction, the jury verdict indicated that it had not agreed with that evidence, and thus, "given the verdict of the jury, any error in denying a punitive damage instruction was harmless"); Mitchell v. Eagle Motor Lines, Inc., 228 Miss. 214, 230, 87 So. 2d 466, 471 (1956) (although lower court erred in failing to instruct jury with regard to factor it could consider in assessing damages, such error was harmless since the jury had found in favor of the defendants).

For that reason alone, Tellus's first two arguments on the jury instructions are without merit and should be overruled. However, there is more.

On appellate review of alleged error in jury instructions, the Court reads all the instructions "as a whole." *See Payne v. Rain Forest Indus., Inc.*, 540 So. 2d 35, 40-41 (Miss. 1989). Here, both the damages instructions, No. 9 and No. 12, were predicated on the jury's finding liability. *See R.* 12646, R.E. 76-77 ("if you find that one or more of the Defendants is liable to Plaintiffs and that one or more of such liable Defendants, if any, commingled gas . . .") (emphasis added); R. 12653, R.E. 84 ("[i]f your verdict be for the Plaintiffs against Texas Petroleum Investment Company, William Crawford and Bruce Sallee, or any of them, you shall apportion the damages for each year ...")(emphasis added).

Tellus's proposed commingling instruction also predicated the so-called "shifting of the burden" on a finding by the jury that the Defendants were liable for commingling. R. 12667. That comports with Mississippi law and the cases upon which Tellus relies which also hold that the "commingling doctrine" is not triggered until the plaintiff proves that commingling occurred. See Lackey v. Lackey, 691 So. 2d 990, 993 (Miss. 1997) (commingling doctrine applies only "once it is shown" that commingling occurred). See also In re Twin B Auto Parts, Inc. (Halart, L.L.C. v. Indep. Auto Warehouse, Inc.), 271 B.R. 71, 87 (Bankr. E.D. Va. 2001) ("if goods have been commingled, the burden of identifying the property belongs to the one most culpable for the commingling")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Tellus's proposed instruction reads:

The Court instructs you that if you find from a preponderance of the evidence that one or more of the Defendants commingled gas produced from the 1949 JOA Gas Horizons through the Bilbo A-1 wellbore with gas from other sources owned by such Defendant without making a reasonable accurate record at that time of the amount of the commingled gas produced from the 1949 JOA Gas Horizons, then the burden to prove how much of the commingled gas was gas from the 1949 JOA Gas Horizons shifts to such Defendant and in that event it will be your sworn duty to find that all of the commingled gas belonged to the Plaintiffs unless such Defendant proves by a preponderance of the evidence the amount of the commingled gas which belonged to such Defendant.

R. 12667 (emphasis added).

(emphasis added); *Mooers v. Richardson Petroleum Co.*, 204 S.W.2d 606, 608 (Tex. 1947) (commingling rule "has no application at all until the facts establish that there has been a commingling"); *Troop v. St. Louis Union Trust Co.*, 166 N.E.2d 116, 123 (Ill. App. 1960) ("when the commingling is proved, the burden of going forward with evidence to show the correct proportions is on the party who commingled") (emphasis added); 15A C.J.S. *Confusion of Goods* § 14 ("burden of proof as to confusion of goods is on the party claiming that such confusion took place, and where a plaintiff claims a forfeiture the burden is on him to show not only a confusion of goods but also that the mixing was done willfully with a fraudulent intent"; "[w]here the commingling is proved, the burden of going forward with evidence to show the correct proportions is on the party who did the commingling") (footnote omitted; emphasis added).

In its brief, Tellus argues that Instruction No. 9 allowed Texas Petroleum to escape liability even if Tellus proved that commingling occurred. That is simply not so. The jury was instructed that, if they found commingling, Tellus could recover damages even if the amount of its loss could not be proved with certainty. R. 12646, R.E. 77. Of course, in order to recover anything, Tellus first had to prove that "one or more of the Defendants is liable to Plaintiffs" and "that one or more of such liable Defendants, if any, commingled gas produced from the Shallow Zones of the Bilbo A-1 well" and that the commingling was done "without making a reasonably accurate record of the amount of the commingled gas produced from the Shallow Zones." *Id.* To prove commingling, the Plaintiffs would also have to prove that gas existed in the Shallow Zones in producible quantities. *See* Instruction No. 7, R. 12641, R.E. 72. Because the jury found that the Defendants were not liable to the Plaintiff, the jury never reached the damages instructions about which Tellus complains. For that reason, Tellus cannot show that the failure to submit its damages instructions caused an improper

verdict.

Likewise, with regard to the "annualized damages interrogatories" in Instruction No. 12, the jury was instructed to answer those damages questions only if it found for the Plaintiffs. R. 12653, R.E. 84. The jury did not find for the Plaintiffs. Nothing about the damages instructions could have influenced the jury's verdict. Because Tellus cannot show that the Court's damages instructions affected the jury's finding that Texas Petroleum was not liable, there is no reversible error.

### B. There was no abuse of discretion in submitting the commingling instruction.

Not only is there no reversible error, but also there was no error at all in the Circuit Court's rulings. Because Tellus's proposed instruction on commingling was an inaccurate statement of the law, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in refusing the proposed instruction.

A trial court has "considerable discretion" with regard to instructing the jury. *Utz v. Running & Rolling Trucking, Inc.*, 32 So. 3d 450, 474 (Miss. 2010). If the instructions, taken as a whole, adequately instruct the jury, then a party has no complaint on appeal as to an instruction that was refused. *Id.* Even if a specific instruction is defective, reversal is not required so long as all the instructions read together "fairly—although not perfectly—announce the applicable primary rules of law." *Id.* (quoting *Beverly Enters., Inc. v. Reed*, 961 So. 2d 40, 43 (Miss. 2007)). *See Splain v. Hines*, 609 So. 2d 1234, 1239 (Miss.1992) ("Defects or inadequacies in particular instructions do not trouble us, so long as the aggregate of the instructions, taken as a whole, fairly, though not necessarily perfectly, express the applicable primary rules of law.").

In this case, the Circuit Court properly instructed the jury that Tellus had the burden to prove that commingling occurred. Tellus does not appear to take issue with that instruction. Rather, as is clear from Tellus's proposed instruction, R. 12667, and its objection to the charge, Tr. 5469-70, what Tellus sought was not a burden of proof instruction, but a windfall instruction. Tellus wanted

"and in that event it will be your sworn duty to find **that all of the commingled gas belonged to the**Plaintiffs unless such Defendant proves by a preponderance of the evidence the amount of the commingled gas which belonged to such Defendant." R. 12667 (emphasis added).

Significantly, Tellus's proposed instruction did not make allowance for the problems of proof that the Court's instruction properly recognized. The Court did not tell the jury that Tellus could recover nothing unless it proved the precise amount of shallow gas incorporated into the commingled mass. Instead, the Court properly advised the jury of the traditional Mississippi rule that "Plaintiffs are not precluded from recovering damages for the commingled gas merely because it is not possible to prove the amount of their loss with certainty." R. 12646, R.E. 77. Thus, the Court allowed the jury to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of Tellus's supposed damages. By contrast, Tellus's proposed instruction did not advise the jury of the propriety of a reasonable estimate. Instead, Tellus wanted to instruct the jury "that all of the commingled gas belonged to the Plaintiff" unless Texas Petroleum proved "the amount of the commingled gas which belonged to such Defendant," R. 12667, with no acknowledgment that the amount need not be proved with absolute precision.

Tellus cites no case from any jurisdiction in which an all-or-nothing jury instruction has ever been approved. Indeed, the Mississippi case on which it places principal reliance, *Lackey*, was not a damages case at all. Rather, it was an equitable action in which the beneficiary sought the imposition of a constructive trust on the proceeds of a life insurance policy which her trustee had purchased for himself with commingled funds. This Court recognized that the case law is divided, 691 So. 2d at 994, but chose to apply the remedy against a trustee who "stole massive amounts of funds from an innocent girl to whom he owed both the legal fiduciary duties of a trustee as well as

the familial duties owed to a niece." *Id.* at 995. Nevertheless, the Court warned that such a remedy should not be available in every arguably similar case:

[I]t would also be unwise to adopt a blanket rule permitting the attachment of insurance proceeds in all cases involving breaches of fiduciary duty or fraud. In the view of this Court, a better approach is to consider the constructive trust in insurance proceeds to be an equitable remedy which should be available in appropriate cases.

*Id.* at 996. In allowing a Chancellor to impose such a constructive trust in some cases, this Court certainly did not authorize a jury to disregard a plaintiff's burden of proof in every ordinary tort suit for damages.<sup>13</sup>

Moreover, other jurisdictions have applied the doctrine of commingling in cases of fraud, like the *Lackey* case, and not in cases of ordinary negligence, such as Tellus asserts here. As the Supreme Court of Texas said, "In applying the commingling rule it is proper to hold the willful commingler to a strict showing ...." *Mooers*, 204 S.W. 2d at 608. In *Troop*, 166 N.E. 2d at 122, the Court observed that "the counter-defendant did intentionally and tortiously mix, commingle and confuse the oil from the two leases." No damages at all were awarded in *In re Twin B Auto Parts*, but the Court described the rule as applying against "one who willfully mixes his goods with those of another, so that they cannot be distinguished and separated." 271 B.R. at 86 (quoting *Edgewood Distilling Co. v. Rosser's Adm'r*, 116 Va. 624, 82 S.E. 716, 717 (1914)). The all-or-nothing jury instruction requested by Tellus did not require a finding of willfulness and cannot be supported even

Miss. 799, 107 So. 548 (1926), was neither a common law action nor an equitable action, but a statutory action. This Court held that a statute requiring a bank to pay interest on county tax receipts imposed "the duty to ascertain what part of such funds were tax collections, and to keep them separate from other funds of the sheriff's account." 107 So. at 549. Peterson v. Polk, 67 Miss. 163, 6 So. 615 (1889), was a replevin action in which the sheriff levied on 4,000 staves on a barge. Defendant did not disagree that he had taken 4,000 staves from plaintiff's property, but argued "that the particular staves seized by the sheriff must be shown to have been made from timber cut on plaintiff's land." 6 So. at 615. Rejecting this argument, this Court found that it did not matter which 4,000 staves plaintiff received, so long as she got 4,000 staves. This Court certainly did not authorize the sheriff to seize the entire barge.

by the non-jury cases on which Tellus relies.

The Circuit Court may refuse a jury instruction if it is an incorrect statement of law. *See Thomas v. State*, 48 So. 3d 460, 469 (Miss. 2010). Because there is no law supporting Tellus's allor-nothing instruction, there is no error. Moreover, because Tellus cannot show that it was harmed by the instruction, there is no reversible error.

### C. Any error in the annualized damages interrogatories was waived or invited.

Tellus also complains about the "annualized damages interrogatories" in Instruction No. 12, but that issue cannot be considered because: (1) Tellus never objected to the instruction; (2) Tellus itself proposed the instruction; and (3) Tellus urged the trial court not to follow MISS. CODE ANN. § 75-17-7 (Rev. 2009).

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